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SUBJECT: Scheduled onsite inspection to verify compliance with MI-ROP-A0884-2016 and all other applicable state and federal air 
quality regulations 
RESOLVED COMPLAINTS: 

On October 18, 2017 I (Sydney Bruestle) performed a scheduled onsite inspection at Verso Escanaba located at 7100 
County 426 M.5 Road Escanaba, MI. While onsite I met with Adam Becker (Air Quality Engineer, Verso) and Bill Racine 
(Environmental Manager, Verso). They gave me an overview of the processes onsite with a flow diagram and aerial view of 
the entire plant. Mr. Racine drove us around the site to look at the permitted equipment, pollution control devices, and control 
rooms. After the facility tour they showed me the system used to track the operation parameters or all the equipment, 
pollution control devices, and continuous emissions monitors. 

Verso Facility Description: 
Verso Escanaba operates an integrated pulp and paper mill. The existing facility includes the following general process 
operations: wood yard, refiner mechanical pulp (RMP) mill, Kraft pulp mill, chemical recover, recausticizing system, bleach 
plant, boiler house, and coated paper manufacturing operations. 

Verso Escanaba is a major pollution source for Carbon Monoxide (CO), Nitrogen Oxides (NOx), Particulate Matter (PM), 
Sulfur Dioxide (S02), and Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs). The facility currently operates under MI-ROP-A0884-2016, 
which is a sectioned Renewable operating permit. Section 1 covers operations at Verso Escanaba and Section 2 covers 
Omya, Inc. Omya, Inc. operates a precipitated calcium carbonate plant (PCC) at the Verso Escanaba plant. 

The required records were reviewed for the following emission units at Verso Escanaba and Omya Inc. Copies of 
some records are attached to this report, they are identified below. (SC = Special Condition from the ROP) 

EU7B17- Boiler #7 

Emission Unit Material Reporting Other Requirements 
Unit Description Limits (SC II) (SC Vll1-3) (SCIX) 

Riley boiler 
Fuel Oil 

Prompt 
rated for 

Sulfur 
Reporting of 

150,000 pounds 
Content: 1.5 

deviations 

EU7B17 of steam per percent by Semiannual Shall comply with the 

(Boiler#7) hour (154 
weight, 

reporting of provisions of the NESHAP 
million BTU per 

calculated monitodng and DDDDD 
hour heat input) 

based on 
deviations 

Natural Gas and 
18,000 BTU/Ib 

Annual 
Fuel Oil certification 

Review 
The facility does not have the ability to burn fuel oil in this boiler. The condition will be 

removed during the next ROP renewal 

Compliance 
In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EU7Bl7. Status 

E 

tv' OtR . · • 
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SUBJECT: Scheduled onsite inspection to verify compliance with MI-ROP-A0884-2016 a nd all other applicable state and federal air 
quality regulations 
RESOLVED COMPLAINTS: 

EU7B17- Boiler #7 

Emission Unit Unit Description 
Material Limits Reporting Other Requirements 

(SCII) (SC V111-3) (SCI X) 

Riley boiler rated 
Prompt Reporting 

Fuel Oil Sulfur of deviations for 150,000 pounds 
Content: J .5 Scminnnual 

EU7B17 (Boiler 
of s team per hour 

percent by reporting of Shall comply with the provisions of (154 million BTU 
#7) per hour beat 

weight, monitoring and the NESHAP DO ODD 
calculated based deviations input) Natural Gas 
on 18,000 BTU/lb Annual 

and Fuel Oil certification 

Review 
The facility does not have the ability to burn fuel oil in this boiler·. The condition will be removed during 

the next ROJ' renewal 

Compliance 
In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EU7Bl7. Status 

EU8B 13- Boiler #8 

Emission Unit 
Emission Material Monitoring and 

Reporting 
Other 

Limits Limit Record keeping Requireme nts 
Unit Description (SCI. 1-3) (SC 11.1.) (SCV1.1-6) 

(SCVI1.1-5) (SC IX.1.) 

Obtain and keep 
records of the sulfur 

and BTU content of the 
fuel oil burned in #8 

NOx 0.20 
boiler 

Prompt Obtain lab analysis 
Combustion 

lbs./MMBtu from supplier· Reporting of 

Engineering 
(Ozone 

Fuel Oil Record the date 
deviations 

Boiler rated 
Season) 

Sulfur received, fuel oil grade, 
Semia nnual 

Comply with the 
When firing reporting of for 450,000 natural gas content 1.0 and source of fuel oil, 

monitoring 
pounds of NOx 0.40 

gallons received, 
and 

lbs./MMBtu 
supplier info 

deviations Mcasur·c NOx 
emissions using a NOx 
CEMS during ozone 

control period 
Keep records to 
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demons trate tha t the 
sum of the mass 

emissions dur ing the 
ozone control period 

(Ozone divided by the sum of Annual 
Season) when the heat input during certification 

s team per firing fuel oil 
percent by 

the period is less than S ubmit a 
hour(594 NOx 0.35 weight, or equal to the emission summury 

EU8B13 
million BTU lbs.IMMlltu ca lculated limita tions specified in report to provisions of the 

(Boiler #B) per hour heat (30 Day 
based on 

table 81 AQD within NESIIAP 
input) Natural rolling 18,000 A new 30 day average 60 days after DDDDD 
Gas a nd Fuel average) 

BTU/Ib 
shall be computed a t t he end of 

oil When firing the end of each each ozone 
natural gas cnlenda r day in which control 
or fuel oil the boile r operated season 

Mainta in records of all 
CEMs data, Stack test 

results, fuel usage, 
maintenance. 

Re••iewed Yes, Boilel'll8 has not bu rned fuel oil in several years. 

Compliance 
In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EU8Bl3. Status 

EUllB68- B01ler # I I 

Unit Description: ABB Combustion Engineer ing combination fuel boiler rated fo r 750, 000 lbs. of steam per hour (1040 million btu per hour heat input) 
Burns: na tu ral gas, solid fuels (coal, wood residue, wastewater· treatment plant residu als), T DF, non-hazanlous secondnr')' ma teria l (NBS1\I) Pellets 

Emission Limits (SC I. 1-6) : CO- 0.50 lbs.IMMBtn bent input NOx- 0.70 lbs.I!VJMBtu heat input (30 day rolling average when fi ring solid fuels) NOx­
Limits in table 81 of rule 801 (Ozone season) P M- 0.06 1b.IMMBTU heat in put (When firing solid Fuels) 5 02 1.2 lhs./MI\Iffitu heat in put ( 10 Day rolling 
average when firing solid fuels) Me rc ury 7. 1 lbs. (24-hour period when fi ring wustcwater t reatment plant residuals) 

Material Limit (SC II. 1-7) : Boiler Fuel- At least 45% by weight of fuel fired during norma l operation is wood residue a nd or waste water treatment plant 
residuals measured as a percentage of wet weight of wood residue and/or wastewater t reatment plant residua ls per the total wet weight of all solid fuels 
Coal- Sulfur content average of 1.0 percent by weight calcula ted on the basis of 12,000 Btu/lb. T DF- 90 tons per day (Monthly A\'erage)-32,220 tons per 
year Engineered non-waste fuel pellets: 88,700 tons per year Engineered non-wnste fue l pellets: chlorine or total halogen conten t: 15,000 ppm Engineered 
non-waste fuel pellets- 20% heat input 

Process Operational Restr ictions (SC Ill. 1-3): Shall not usc solid fuel to s ta rt up Boiler #11. Shall not operntc Boiler I l un less the multiclone and 
electrosta tic precipita tor arc opera ting proper·ly. Solid fue ls feed to Boiler # II shall be reduced immediately, consistent with sa fe operating procedures 
upon operating the electrostatic precipitator as s ingle cha mbered unit during maintenance (May be increased when ESP is hack online) 

Monitoring! Record Keeping (SC VI. 1-22) : T he permittee shall do the following: 

Monitor the opacity a nd oxygen from EU1JB68 on a continuous basis 
Monitor und record the nitrogen oxides emission from EU1 1B68 on a conti nuous basis in a manner and with ins trumenta tion acceptable to the 
AQD 
Measure NOx emissions using a NOx CEMS during the Ozone control period 
Monitor and r·ecord the percentage of wood r·esidue and/or wastewa ter treatment plant residuals fired In EU J IB68 to determine compliance 
with the limitation speci fied under Materia l Usage a nd Emission Limits 
Obtain a nd keep records of the sulfur, ash, and BTU content of the coal burned in EU11B68. 
O btain from the supplier a laboratory analysis of the coal ash, sulfur, a nd BTU content for each hulk shipment. 
Obtain a nd keep records of sulfu r, ash, and Btu content of tbe TDF burned in EU J1B68. A minimum of twice per year the permittee shnll 
obtain nlabornlot) ' analysis of the ash, sulfur, and Btu content. At least once per yenr the permittee shall have an a nalysis performed of the 
TDF for sulfur, ash, arsenic, cadmium, and total chromiu m, lead ma nganese, mercury, nickel, zinc, and Btu Content. 
Calcu la te and ltcep records ofPMl O, Pi\12.5, S02, NOX, CO, H2S04, and C02e emission rates from EUI I B68 in tones per year on a calendar 
basis. 
Obtain a nd lteep records of chlorine (Or total llalogens) a nd Btu content of the engineered non-waste fuel pellets burned in EUI JB68. When 
burning engineered non-waste fuel pellets, shall obtain a monthly labora tory analysis of the chlor ine and BTU content. 
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IU V HilUI i1 Ull I C\.UIU lltC lUll!) VI l:II~HU;\': ICU UUII -ntt:,l t: Hlt:I (Jt::l_l\:1 ;) 113\:U i1:) tU C I UU ll II IUUUIIJ' h iiU I~ U I UUlll IUillll b lli1!)1:t. 

Monitor and record the percent of engineered non-waste fuel pellets on a heat input basis used for fuel on a monthly mtd 12 month rolling basis. 
J<eep and maintain all sampling and or testing results for a period of 5 years 
Utilize COM-recorded opacity as an indicator of the proper operation of the electrostatic precipitator. T he indicator range of opacity is 0-20% 
An excursion is a departure from the range of0-20% based on a 6-minute averaging time. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-11): The following reports are required for Boiler 11: 

Prompt Reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification report 
Quarterly reporting of the continuous emission monitoring fo•· opacity and nitrogen oxides emissions from EU11B68 
Report annual emissions of PMJO PM2.5 NOx CO H2S04 and C02e in tons per year on a calendar year basis to the AQD permit section 
supervisor 
Monitor downtime 
CAM excursions and exceedauccs. 

Compliance status/records review for Boiler #11: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EU11B68. 

Opacity July 2017: 4-5% (6-minutc averages) 
NOx Emissions Dec 2016 (30 Day Ave) 0.21 1b./MMBtu May 20 17 0.221bs./M!Vffitu 
Records for Materials burned in boiler II m·e attached to inspection r eport 
TDF monthly usage 20-50 tons per day (less than 90 ton per day limit) TDF annual Usage 15,429 tons/yr in Sept 2017 (less than 32,000 ton per 
ye:n· limit) 
No longer burns Engineered nonhazardous waste fuel pellets 
Percentage of fuel but·ned that is wood residue and/or waste water tt·eatment plant residuals per total weight of solid fuels December 2016: 
greater than 70% May 2017: Greater than 70 % (limit is greater than 45%) 
Sulfur content of coall2/29/14 analyzed: 0.59% 03/25/15: 0.59%01/07/16 analyzed: 0.62% 
Records of Sulfur, Ash, and Btu content ofTDF bumcd (Records attached to this report): 02/28/2017 Sulfur: 2.19% Ash: 10.35% BTU: 14,909 
BTU/lb. 08/29/17: Sulfur: 1.85% Ash: 15.13% BTU: 14,449 Btu/lb. 09/29/2017: Sulfur: 1.81 % Ash: 15% BTU: 13,766 BTU/lb. 
Emission records fo1· 2016 attached for PMIO 2016: 42.1 tons PM2.5: 38.1 tons S02: 689.1 tons NOx: 620.2 tons CO: 177.8 tons H2S04: 52.8 
tons 

EUCS14- Chip Thickness Screening: 

Emission Testing/ Monitoring I 
Othe r Emission Unit Limits (SC Sampling Record Reporting 

Requirements Unit Description 
I. 1-4) (SC V. 1-2) 

Keeping (SC (SCVII. 1-3) 
(SC IX. 1.) Vl.1.) 

Visually inspect Prompt reporting 
PM 0.0075 of deviations 
gr/dscfm 

Verify PM and record Semiannual Air Cleaning 
EUCS14 emission obset'Vafions of Devices 

(Chip Chip thiclmcss l'M5.58 pplt 
ra tes within emissions from 

reporting of 
maintained and 

thickness screen ing PM10 0.0044 3 years of the cyclone 
monitoring and operated in a 

screening) system gr/dscfm 
permit exhausts while deviations satisfactory 

PMIO 3.29 Annual 
pph issuance the process is 

Certification of 
manner 

operating compliance 

Reviewed Yes, Copies of the inspections for December 2016 aud May 2017 are attached to this report 

Compliance 
In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUCS I4. 

Status 

EU2PD40-Pulp Dryer System: 

Emission Unit 
Unit Monitoring/Record Reporting (SC 

Description Keeping (SC VI. 1) V11.1-3) 

Prompt 
reporting of 

On an annual basis the 
deviations 

EU2PD40 permittee shall calculate Semiannual 

(Pulp Dryer The#l2 Pulp and report the actual reporting of 

System) Dryer system 
emissions of each 

monitoring and 
deviations regulated air pollutant Annual 

Certification of 
compliance 

Reviewed Yes, The Facility t·eportcd to MAERS. VOC emission are 1178 lbs. 
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for 2016 

Compliance 
Status 

In Complia nce with the !lOP special conditions for EU2PD40. 

EUCOND- Condensate Collection and Treatment: 

Unit Description: Grouping of equipment used to collect and treat I< raft pulping process condensates 

Pollution Control Equipment : Closed Collect ion System 

Emission Limits (SC 1.1.): Total HAP measured as metha nol (oper·ational restrictions) 
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Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1-4): One of the following combinations of HAP-containing pulping process condensates generated, 
produced, or associated with the equipment lis ted in 40 CFR 63.446(b) shall be subject to the requirements of 40 CFR 63.446 

All the pulping process condensates from the eq uipment systems specified in 40 CFR 63.446(b)(l) through (b)(S). (40 CFR 63.446(c)(l )) 

b. The combined pulping process condensates from the equipment systems specified in paragraphs 40 CFR 63.446(b)(4) and (b)(5), plus pulping process 
condensate stream(s) that in total contain atleast 65% of the total HAP mass from the pulping process condensates from equipment listed in 40 CFR 
63.446(b)( l ) through (b)(3). (40 CFR 63.446(c)(2)) 

c. The pulping process condensates from equipment systems listed in 40 CFR 63.446(b)(l ) through (b)(5) that in total contain a total HAP mass of 11.1 
pounds or more of tota l HAP per ton of oven-d ried pulp, based upon a 15-day rolling average. (40 CFR 63.446(c)(3)) 

3. The puiJJing process condensates from the equipment systems shall be conveyed in a closed collection system 

Recycle the pulping process condensate to an equipment system specified in 40 CFR 443(a) meeting the requirements specified in 40 CFR 63.443(c) or (d); 
or (40 CFR 63.446(e)( l )) 

b. Discharge the condensate below the liquid surface of a biological treatment system meeting the requiremenl specified in 40 CFR 63.446(e)(3); or (40 
CFR 63.446(e)(2)) 

c. Treat the pulping process condensate to reduce or destroy the tota iiiAPs by at least 92% or more by weight; or (40 CFR 63.446(c)(3)) 

d. Treal thc pulping process condensates to remove 10.2 pounds or more of total HAP per ton of oven-dried pulp, based upon a IS-day rolling average, or 
achieve a totnl HAP concentration of 330 parts per million or less by weight at the outlet of the control device. (40 CFR 63.446(c)(S)) 

Reporling (SC VII. 1-4): The following reporls are required for EUCOND: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting of monitoring a nd de\•iations 
Annua l Cerlificntion of compliance 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1-2): The permiltce must comply with the applicable requirements of 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart A - General Provisions, ns 
indicated in 40 CFR Pa rt 63, Table I to SubpartS - General Provisions Applicability to S ubpar! S. (40 CFR 63.440(g)) 

Each closed collection system used to comply with 40 CFR 63.446 requirements shall comply with the inspeclion requirements as specified in 40 CFR 
63.453(k) 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EUCOND: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUCOND. 

The Fncility is removing n grealer· than 13lbs. (1 5-day average) or more of HAPS from !he collected condensate. T his demonslrntcs compliance with the 
ROP requircmen l of at least 10.2 lbs. of HAPs (to be removed). Monlhly reports for December 2016 and May 2017 are attached to th is inspection 
report 

EURF15- Chemical Recovery Furnace: 

Unit Description : The C hemical Recovery Fu rnace (EURFI5) is used to regenerate chemicals used inlhc Kraft process. The 1110 Recovery Furnace is 
raled for 565,000 pounds of sleam per hour· (approximately 950 million BTU per· hour heat input), a nd burns blnck liquor, natural g:~s, 116 fuel oil, ultra­
low sulfur diesel and used oil. Also, the 1110 Recovery Furnace receives and incinerates HVLC no condensable gases from the Digester System, 
13rownstock System, Evaporutor System, and Chemical Recovery Furnace System. The secondary air forced-draft air handling fan on the Recovery 
Furnace has been modified. 

Pollution Control : Electrostalie Precipitator on 11 10 Jlccovery Fur·nacc 

Emission Limits (SC 1.1-17): Arsenic: 0.004 mglm3 (while burning used oil and or blend fuel oil) 

Cadmium: 0.038 mgfrn3 (while burning used oil andfo r blend fuel oil 
CO: 2000 ppm by volume based on a I hr average; 1424 pph; 800 ppm by volume based on an 8 hr average 
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Chromium 0.016 mg!m3 corrected to 70 degrees F and 29.92 in llg 
HAP Metals Measured as PM: 0.044 gr/dscfm corrected to 8% oxygen 
NOx 400 ppm by volume; 468 pph 
PM 0.033 gr/dscfm; 60.5 pph 
Polychlorinated biphenyls: 0.014 mg/m3 
S02: 250 ppm by volume; 407 pph 
Total Reduced Sulfur 5 ppm corrected to II% oxygen on a 12-hr· average; 5.6 pph corrected to 8% oxygen on a 12-hour a\•erage 

Materials Limit (SC II. 1-3): Used Oil: The concentration of the following materials in used oil shall not exceed the limits specified: 
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Arsenic: 4 ppmw; Cadmium: 2 ppmw; Chromium: 10 ppmw; Lead: 25 ppmw; Total Halogens: 300 ppmw; Polychlorinated Biphenyls: 3 ppmw; Used Oil: 
The minimum flash point temperature of the used oil burned shall he greater than 100 F; Used Oil: Not to exceed I 5% of the total feed rate of the fuel oil 
blend 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC 111.1-2): The EUll.Fl5 operating load shall be reduced to 77,600 pounds of Black Liquor Solids (BLS) ller· hour if 
any two electl'ic fields of the electrostatic precipitator arc plnced out of service. Return to operation exceeding 77,600 pounds of solids per hour shall not 
commence unless the two fi elds are returned to service 

The EURF15 operating load shall be reduced to 77,600 pounds of BLS per hour if any one of the two chambers of the electrostatic precipitator a r·e down 
for maintenance, during which all other ESP fields arc operating in the active chamber. Return to operation exceeding 77,600 pounds of solids per hour 
shall not commence unless the other· chamber of the electrostatic precipitator is returned to sen •ice 

Testing Sampling (SC V. 1-4): Shall verify carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, and particulate emission rates from EURF15-l by testing 

Once within five yea rs of permit issuance, and once every five-year per·iod thereafter, the permittee shall verify the emission rates from the EURF15 by 
testing, to determine compliance with the emission limits specified in Section I 

lftltc permittee burns used oil and/or blend fuel oil during sustained operation of the EURF15, the permittee shall verify arsenic, cadmium, chromium, 
and polycltlorinated biphenyls emissions from the EURF15 by testing. Once within five years ofpcrmit issuance, and once every five-year period 
thereafter. 

Monitoring and Record Keeping (SC VI. 1-15): The permitee shall complete the following: 

Complete a ll required calculations in a format acceptable to the AQD District Supervisor and mai{C them available by the 30th day of the 
calendar mont II, for the previous calendnt· montlt, unless otherwise specified in any monitoring/recordkccping special condition 
Monitor and record the oxygen content, opacity, and total reduced sulfur· of the exhaust gases from EUnF15 on a continuous basis in a manner 
and with ins trumentation acceptable to the AQD. 
Install, calibrate, maintain, and opemte a COMS 
Monitor and record the blacl{ liquor feed rate to EURF15 on a continuous basis 
Monitor the electric current and/o1· voltage supplied to the twelve fields of the electrostatic precipitator ou a continuous basis 
Monitor and record all occurrences when two fields of the electrostatic precipitator a r·e taken out of service as specified nuder Operational 
Parameters below, the duration of each occurrence, and the blacl{ liquor solids firing rate during each occurrence 
Keep a log ofll6 fuel uil delivel'ies including dntc of delivery, quantity ofll6 fuel oil received, and an analysis of the 116 fuel oil. 
Keep a record of the percentage of used oil in the fuel oil blend burned in the Recovery Fumace to determine compliance with the 15 percent 
limitation 
Perfo1·m an annual analysis of the used oil prior to transferring the used oil to the one million-gallon 116 fuel oil storage taol{ shall be conducted 
to determine compliance with the material limits specified under Material Limits above 

Within 30 days after written notification by the AQD, the permittee shall submit an analysis of the used oil and blend fuel oil fired in EURFL5. 
Implement corrective action, as specified in the SSM plan prepared under 40 CFR 63,866(a) when the average often consecutive 6-minute 
averages result in a measurement greater than 20 percent opacity 
The source will be considered in violation of the standards of 40 CFR 63.862 if opacity is greater than 35% for 6% or mor e of the opemting 
time in any quarterly period 
Monitor on a continuous basis and record on a daily avemge, the horsepower (HP) to the motor on the secondar·y air forced-draft air handling 
fan on EURF15 
Each COMS must complete a minimum of one cycle of sampling and analyzing for each successive 10-sccond period and one cycle of data 
recording for eaclt successive 6-minute period 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-9): The following reports are required for EURF15: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannua l reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual Certification of compliance 
Quarterly 1·eporting ofTRS continuous monitoring system performance a nd excess TRS emissions 
Semiannual repor· ting of excess emissions of opacity 
Quarterly excess emissions report if measured parameters meet any of the Conditions specified in 40 CFR 63.864(k)(l) 01· (2). When no 
exccedances of parameters have occurred, permittee shall submit a semiannual report stating that no excess emissions occurred during the 
reporting pcl'iod 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1-3): Shall develop a nd implement a Star·tup, Shutdown, and Malfunction Plan 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EURF15: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions outlined under EURF15. 

Records of the oxygen content, opacity, and total reduced sulfur of the exhaust gases from EURF15 were requested for the month of December 2016 and 
May 2017. 02 values ranged from 2-5% for both months. Total reduced sulfur 1·angcd from J-4.5 ppm. Opacity values ranged from 1-6% for both 
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December 2016 and May 201 7. All the values reported demonstrate compliance with the permit limits. 

As required by the ROI' Verso monitors the blacl< liquor feed r-ate for EURFJS onn continuous basis. I requested records of the blacl< liquor feed rate for 
December IS, 2016nnd May IS, 2017, I have attached these r·ccords to the bard copy of this report. Values were around 3.8 tons/hr (7600 lbsnrr) for 
Dcccmbcr1S, 2016 and May IS, 2017. These values arc well below the permit limit of77,600 lbs. per hour. 

Verso submitted records of the electric current/and or voltngc supplied to the twelve fields of the electrostatic precipitator (ESI') for December IS, 2016 
and May IS, 2017, tbcse records arc attached to the ha rd copy oftbis report. Verso also submitted records of the most recent two occurrences when two 
fields of the ESl' arc taken out of service. Tbese records nrc required by the ROJ>. 

The facility submitted records for tbc last two deliveries of fuel oil #6 received for the recovery furnace. These records a re attached to the lurrd copy of this 
report. Verso no longer burns used fuel oil in the recovery furnace. 

The facility submitted rceor·ds for the daily aver:1ge borsepowcr to the motor (for December 2016 and May 20 17). The records arc attached to this report. 

EUST15- Smelt Dissolving Tank 

Unit Description: Used to regenerate chemicals used in the l<rart process. Receives smelt from the #JO Recovery furnace, mixes witb weak wash to 
generate green liquor and is transported to the recausticizing system 

Pollution Control: Wet Scrubber and mist eliminator 

Emission Limits (SCI. 1-3): HAJ> metals measured as PM: 0.20 lb./ton ofblacl< liquor solids fired; I'M O.ISib./1000 lbs. ofcxbaust gases; Totnl Reduced 
Sulfur (TRS) 0.0084 gr/kg of black liquor solids (12 hr overage) 

Testing/Sampling (SC V. 1-3): Shall verify particulate and TRS emission rates from EUSTIS by testing Once within five years of permit issuance, and 
once every five-year period thereafter. Shall conduct performance tests for particulate matter per the applicable performance test requirements and test 
methods. 

Monitoring/Record Keeping (SC VI. 1-6): Shall install, calibrate, maintain a nd operate a continuous monitoring system to measure fan run s tatus and 
the scrubbing liquid flow rate at least once every successive 15-minute period 

Shall maintain operating parameters within the range established according to 40 CFR 63.864(1). The source will be considered in violation of the 
standards in 40 CFR 63.862 if s ix or more 3-honr average parameter values within any semi--annual reporting period arc outside the established operating 
range, always except during periods of SSM. No more than one exceedance will be attributed to any 24-honr period. Shall implement correcth•e action, as 
specified in the SSM plnn. 

The monitoring device used for continuous measurement of the scrubbing liquid flow rate must be certified by the manufacturer to be accurate within ±S 
percent of the design scrubbing liquid flow rate. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-7): The following reports are required for EUST15: 

J>rompt repor·ting of deviations 
Semiannual reporling of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 
Shall submit the applicable notifications and reports specified in 40 CFR 63.9 and40 CFR 63.10. The permittee shall submit n quarterly excess 
emissions report if measured pam meters meet any of tbc conditions. 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1-3): The air clean ing devices shall be maintained and operated in a satisfactory manner. T be permittee shall develop and 
implement a Startup, Shutdown, and Malfunclion Plan. Tbe permittee shall comply with the applicable requirements of 40 CFR l'art 63, Subpart A­
Gcncral l'rovisions which arc identified in 40 CFR Part 63, Table I to Subpart MM - General Provisions Applicability to Subpart Mr\1. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EUST15: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUST15. 

The facility submitted records of the scrubber liquid flow rate for December IS, 2016 and May 1S, 2017. Values ranged from 327-3S2 gpm for both dates. 
The facility uses TRS data from the compliance stock test performed on March 3, 2011 to calculate TRS emissions. 

EUS29-Recausticizing System 

Unit Description: Lime Sinker (EUS29). In the s inker, calcium oxide from the Lime Kiln System (FGLK29) reacts with green liquor· from the Smelt 
Dissolving tank (EUSTIS) to produce white liquor and lime mud. The reaction is carried out in the slake.- and causticizers. The mixture is separated in 
two white liq uor clarifiers. White liquor is used in the digesters as a cooking chemical. Lime mud is washed, dcwatcrcd and oxidized in the Lime Kilo 
System to regenerate cnlcium oxide for the slaking process. 

Pollution Control: Wet Scrubber 

Emission Limits (SCI. 1.): Particulate: 0.10 lb/ 1000 lbs. of exhaust gas 

Testing/Sampling (SC V. 1-2): Test for Particulates according to procedures and tes t methods specified or npproved by the AQD Verify particulate 
emission rates from EUS29 by testing at owner's expense, in accordance with Department rcqniremenls. Once within five years of permit issuance, and 
once every five-year period thereafter, the permittee shall verify the emission rates from the EUS29 by tes ting, to determine compliance with the emission 
limits speci fied in SCI. 
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Monitoring/Record Keeping (SC VI. 1-7): The permittee shall equip the Lime Slal<er scrubber with at least one of the following: 

Operable water prcssu re gauge 
Operable water flow meter 

Viewport with pivoted cover or qu icl< release hatch 
Scrubber drain with readily visible sump to verify scrubber water flow 

Continuously monitor the scrubber liquid flow rate and record every 15 minutes for a 3-bour average as an indicator of proper operation of the venturi 
scr·ubber·. The indicator range is a range determined during the last performance test approved by the Adm inistrator and specifi ed in the faci lity's 
Compliance Assurance Monitoring (CAM) Plan 

Upon detecting an excursion or· exceedance, the owner or operator shall restore operation of the pollutant-specific emissions unit (including the contr·ol 
device and associated capture system) to its normal or usual manner of operation as expeditiously as practicable innccordance with good air pollut ion 
control practices for minimizing emissions. The response shall include minimizing the period of any startup, shutdown or malfunction and tal<ing any 
necessary corrective actions to restore normal operation and prevent the lil<ely recurrence of the cause of an excursion or exceedance (other tban those 
caused by excused startup or shutdown conditions) 

Maintain records of m onitoring data, monitor performance data, con ·ective actions tal<en, any written quality improvement plan and any activities 
undertaken to implement a quality improvement plan, and other· information such as data used to document the adequacy of monitoring, or records of 
monitoring maintenance or COITective actions. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-8): The following reports are required for EU$29: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting of monitoring and 
Annual certification of compliance 
Semiannual report of monitoring and deviations as specified under the CAM requirements shall include summary information on monitor· 
downtime 

Semiannual repor·t of monitoring deviations as specified under tile CAM requirements shall include su mmary information on the number, 
duration, and cause of CAM excecdanccs/cxcursions in the reporting period; and the corrective actions tal<en in response 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1-3): The air cleaning devices-maintained and operated in a satisfactory ma nner. Comply with all applicable 
requirements of 40 CFR Part 64. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EU$29: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUS29. 

The facility submitted records of the scrubber flow rate for December IS, 2016 and May 15,2017. Flow rates for botb dates were around 160 gallons per 
minute. 

EUPB-Spray Paint Booth 

Emission Unit Pollution Material Process Monitoring/ 

Unit Description Control Limits 
Operational Record Reporting 
Restrictions Kee ping 

Prompt 
reporti ng of 

Keep all dry 
Keep a monthly deviations 

EUPB record of the Semiannual 
(Spray Maiutenauce 

Dry Exllaust 
200 gallons exhaust filters iu 

total quantity of reporting of 
Paint Paint Spray 

Filters 
as applied place whenever 

coating used in monitoring and 
Booth) Booths per month EUPB is in 

EUPBminus deviations 
operation 

water Annual 
Certification of 

Compliance 

Reviewed Paint usage records for December· 2016 a nd May 2017 are attached to the bard copy of this report. Values were 
below the limit of200 gallons per month. 

Compliance 
Status In compliance with ROP special conditions for EUPB 

FG9B03- Boiler #9 System 

Group Description: T he #9 Boiler System (FG9B03) has two emission units, the #9 Boiler and Wood Residue Surge Bin (EUSB03). The# 9 Boiler 
(EU9B03) is a Babcoel< & Wilcox boiler rated for 250,000 pounds of steam per hour (approximately 360 million BTU per hour heat input) that provides 
steam for mill p rocesses and steam turbine-generators for producing electricity. The 119 boiler burns primal'i ly wood residue, but may also burn natural 
gas, and paper cores. 

Pollution Control: Multielone and two wet scrubbers on the #9 boiler Exhaust; Cyclone dust collector· on wood residue surge bin. 

Emission Limits (SCI. 1-5): NOx Limits specified in table 8 1 ofmle 801; 0.27 lb/MI\'Dltu 

PM 0.50 lb/ 1000 lbs. exhaust gases (if wood residue heat input is >75% of tire total heat input to the boiler; The fraction of tota l heat input from the wood 
residue times 0.67 lb/ 1000 lbs. exhaust gases If the wood residue heat input is < 75% of the total heat input; 0.10 lb/ 1000 lhs. exhaust 
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proccdur·es, upon initiation of scrubber bypuss. Du ring a scrubber bypass, the permittee shall bum only natural gas in EU9B03. Wood residue fuel input 
shnll not be r esta rted until the scrubber is back on line a nd function ing properly. 

Testing/Sampling (SC V. 1-3): Shall ver ify PM emission rates from EU9.B03 by testing at owner's expense, in accordance with Department 
requirements. Once within three years of permit issuance, the permittee shall verify the emission rates from the EUOB03 by testing, to detcnnine 
compliance with the emission limits specified in Section I. 40 C FR Part 63, S ubpllrt DDDDD emissions testing for these pollutants can be used to satis fy 
this requirement. 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-13): 

Equip each wet scrubber with u pressure drop indicator and a now meter 
Keep records of the quantities and respective BTU content, of natural gas, wood residue, and paper cores burned in the 11 9 boiler 
Continuously measure and record pressure drop on the North and South scrubbers as an indicator of proper operation of the scrubber. The 
indicator range for each scrubber is a range determined during the las t performance test approved by the AQD and specified in the facility's 
Compliance Assurnnce Monitoring (CAM) Plan 
Continuously monitot· and record the scrubber liquid now rate on the North and South scrubbers ns an indicator of proper operation of the 
scrubber. The indicatot· range for ench scrubber is a range determined du ring the last performance test approved by the AQD and specified in 
the facility's Compliance Assurance Monitoring (CAM) Plan. 
The pressure drop indicator shall continuously monitor the scrubber pressure. The averaging period is based on a three-hour averaging time. 
The monitor shall be calibrated annually 
The liquid now gauge shall continuous ly monitor the scrubber liquid now ra te. The averaging period is based on a three-hour averaging time. 
The monitor shall be calibra ted annually 
An excu rsion is a departure from the scrubber pressure drop or liquid now rate indicator range determined during the las t performance test 
appro\•cd by the AQD and specified iu the facility's Compli:mcc Assurance Monitoring (CAM) Plan 
Upon detecting nn excursion or e.xcecdunce, the owner or operator sha ll restore operation of the pollutant-specific emissions unit (including the 
control device and associated capture sys tem) to its normal or usual manner of operation as expeditiously as practicable in accordance with 
good air pollution contml practices for minimizing emissions. The response shall include minimizing the period of any startup, shutdown or 
malfunction and taking a ny necessary corrective actions to restore normal operation and prevent the likely recurrence of the cause of an 
excurs ion or cxccedance (other than those caused by excused startup or shutdown conditions). 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-11): The following reports are required for FG9B03: 

Prompt rcpot1ing of deviations; Semiannual reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 
Applicable oxide.~ of nitrogen reporting and complinnce certifica tion (specified in Rule 801 , during ycnrs when the boiler meets the definition of 
a foss il fuel fired emission unit). 

Seminnnual repot·ts of monitoring and deviations (specified undet· the CAM shnll include summary information on monitor downtime.) 
T be owner/operator of Boiler 9 shall submit reports of any compliance tes t measuring NOx emissions from Boiler 9 within 60 days of the last 
day of the test. If the owner/operator commences operation of a continuous NOx emission monitoring system for Boiler 9, owner/opera tor shall 
submit reports for Boiler 9 as specified in 40 CFR 52.1183(1)(7)(i) to (iv). 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1-4): Air cleaning devices shall be maintnincd and opera ted in a satisfactory manner. Shall comply with a ll applicable 
requirements of 40 CFR l'nrt 64. If the permittee identifies a fa ilure to achieve complinncc with un emission limitation or st:mdard fo r which the approved 
monitoring did not provide an indication of an excursion or cxceedance while providing valid data, or the results of eompliancc or performance testing 
document a need to modify the exis ting indicator nmgcs or designated conditions, the permittee shall promptly notify the AQD and if necessary, submit a 
proposed modification of the C AM Plan to address the necessary monitoring changes. The permittee shall comply with the provisions of the National 
Emission Standards for Hnznrdous Air Pollutants, as specified in 40 CFR Pa rt 63, Subpart A and Subpart DDDDD, as they npply to EU9B03, by the initia l 
compliance date. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FG9803: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FG9803 

The facility submitted records of the quantities and respective BTU content of natural gas, wood res idue, and paper cores burned in the 119 boiler for 
December 2016 and May 20 17. The records are attached to the hard copy of this report. Verso Escanaba no longer burns paper cores. T he facility a lso 
submitted records of scrubber now rate and pressure drop for Decembet· IS, 2016 and My 15,2017, these records arc attached to the hard copy of this 
report. Flow rates were amund 1450 gpm for the North Scrubber and 1250 gpm for the South Scrubber for both months. Pressure drop values were 
around 8 in WC for the North scrubber and 5.5 in W C for the South scrubber. These vnlues fall with in the parameters outlined in the CAM plan. 

FGSB14-Chip Surge Bins 

Fle xib le Group Poll ution Emission Monitoring/ Re cord Reporting Other 
Group Descriptio n Control Limits Ke eping Re quire m e nts 

The Chip 
Prompt Surge Bin Visually inspect and 

System I'M: 0.10 lb/ record observations 
reporting of Air cleaning 

FGSB14 (FGSB14) bas Ill C hipper 1000 lbs of of emissions from the deviations devices shall be 

(Chip Surge two emission 
Cyclone,ll2 

exhaust cyclone ex hausts Seminnnunl mainta ined a nd 

Bins) units: Il l C hip Chipper gases while the process is reporting of operated in a 

Surge Bin Cyclone (weekly) operating. 
monitoring and satis factory 

deviations manner 
(EUJSBI4) and Conducted on a 

Annual 112 C hip Surge 

http:/ / intranet.deq .state.mi . us/maces/WebPagesNiew Activity Repmt.aspx? Activity ID=2464 ... 118/2018 



MACES- Activity Report Page 9 of21 

Bin 
wecldy basis. 

certification of 
(EU2SBJ4). compliance 

Reviewed The fac ility s ubmitted records of weekly inspections for the month of December 2016 and May 2017. 

Compliance 
Status 

In compliance with ROP special conditions for FGSB14 

FGFAHS68-#11 Boile r and Ash Handling 

Flexible Group Pollution Emissio n Limits 
Process 

Re porting Other Ope rational 
Group Description Control (SCI. 1-2) 

Restrictions 
(SCVII. 1-3) Requirements 

T he II II Boilct· 
Fuel nnd Ash 

Handling 
System Do not operate 

(FGFARS68) 
PM: 0.03 gr/dscf the EU1JD68 

includes the (Each exhaust of equipment for 
following Individual 

FGFARS68 
the handling 

Air cleaning emission units: Baghouscs 
equipment for and storage of devices shall be Coal Handling on #1, #2, solid fuels Prompt 

(EUCH68), and 113 Coal 
handling and 

unless the dust reporting of 
ma intained nod 

Fuel Handling Silos; s torage of wood collection deviations operated in a 
residue, coal, satisfactory 

FGFAHS68 includ ing wood Baghouse 
wastewater 

equipment is Semiannual 
residue, on 112 Ash operating reporting of 

man ner 
(#11 Boiler treatment plant no visible 
Fuel and wastewater Silo; 

t·esiduals, a nd 
properly monitoring 

emissions 
Ash treatment plant PugmiUs 

ash) 
All coal and gt·eatet· than 5% 

Handling) 
residuals, pellet for wetting Visible 

handling and deviations 
from the coal fuel , and TDF ash from #1 

Emissions: 5% 
storage shall Annual 

storage pile and 
(EUFH68),111 and 112 Ash Opacity be totally certifi cation 

the EU11B68 Coal Silo Silos prior enclosed or of 
(EU IS68), 112 to loading 

(Instantaneous) 
eq ui1111ed with compliance 

equipment for 

Coal Silo into trucl<s 
(FGFAIIS68 

dust 
handling solid 

(EU2S68), 113 for disposal equipment for suppression or fuels a nd ash 

Coni Silo 
hand ling solid 

baghouse 
(EU3S68), Ill 

fuels nud ash) 
control 

Ash Silo equipment. 
(EUIAS68), 

a nd 112 Ash Silo 
(EU2AS68). 

Reviewed 
The fac ility was able to provide records to demonstrate proper operation of the dust collection 

system 

Compliance 
In compliance with ROP special conditions for FGFAHS68 Status 

FGRMP- RMP System 

Process/ 

Flexible Group Pollution Emission Operational Monitoring/ Reporting Other 

Group Description Control 
Limits Restrictions Record keeping (SC Vl1. 1- Requirements 

(SC 1. 1.) (SC Vl.1-2) 3) (SC IX.1) 
(SC 111. 1) 

The Refiner Visually inspect 

Mccbanic:ll 
Not produce and record 

Pulping 
more than observations of Prompt 

System 
113,150 tons emissions from reporting of 

(FGRMP) 
of Refined the cyclone 

exhausts of 
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has three EUCS61 and 

emission 
Mechanical EUS861 while 

deviations 
units: The Pulp {RMP) EURMP61 is 

Semiannual 
Chip Silo PM 0.10 per year operating 

reporting of The air 
Chip Silo through {conducted on a cleaning 

FGRMP {EUCS61), 
Cyclone, lb/1000 EURMP61 , weekly bnsis) monitoring 

devices shall be 
(RMP 

the Chip 
Chip lbs of Monitor and and maintained and 

Surge Bin exhaus t 
as 

de\•iations 
System) {EUS861), 

Surge Bin determined record the Annual operated in a 
Cyclone gas on a 12 amount ofRMP satisfactory and Refiner {weekly) cer1ification 

Mechanicn l 
month rolling produced 

of 
manner 

Pulping time period monthly and on compliance basis. a J2 month 
(EURMI'61). 

rolling a\•erage. 

The facility provided records of weekly inspections and emission obsen•ations from the cyclone exhaust ofEUCS61 
and EUS861 while EURMP6J is operating for the months of December 2016 and May 2017. Records are attached to 

Re1•iewed the hard copy of this report. The facility submitted records for RMl> produced {12 month rolling average) for 
December 2016 and May 2017 {attached to hard copy of report). The Rl\'U> value for 2016 was 81,000 tons per year, 
the value for 2017 {through September) was 83,000 tons per· year (in compliance with the 11 3,150 ton per year limit) 

Compliance 
In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGRMP. Status 

FGPAPER- Paper Machme System 

Emiss ion Material 
Process/ 

Monitoring/ Flexible Group Operational Reporting 
Group Description Limits (SC Limits 

Restrictions 
Recordkeeping (SC VI. 

(SC VII. 1-3) 1.1-2) (SC 11.1) 
(SC 111. 1) 

1-6) 

Calculate and report the 
actual emissions of each 
regulated air' pollutant 

Paper Monthly calculations of the 

Machine 
12-month rolling nverage 

Systems total VOC emission from 

(FGPAPER) EU3PM07 expressed in 

includes the # l 
tons per year to determine 

Paper VOC compliance with the 

Machine (including 
limitation specified under 

Emission Limits above (E UIPi\132) additil•cs and 
The 1>ennittce Keep Material Safety Data Pmmpt 

and associated or cleaning 
shall usc only Sheet and/or a material 

1·eporting of 
s tock solvents): mill supply specification sheet for all 

deviations 

FGPAPER 
prcparution 27.51 tpy 

water, non- chemical additives nscd by Semiannual 

(Paper 
equipment, the (EU3PM07) Paper: 268, 

direct contact EU3PM07. 
reporting or 

Machine 
113 Paper VOC 650tpy 

condensates, Monthly and 12-montb 
monitoring 

Systems) 
Machine including {EU4PM64) 

well water, or· rolling time period paper 
and 

(EU3PM07) additives white water as production from deviations 
a nd associated and/or Annual 

s tock cleaning 
sources for EU4PM64. 

certification 
EU3PM07. Monthly and 12-montlr preparation solvents 26.9 rolling time period VOC of compliance 

equipment and tpy 
emission calculation the #4 Pape1· (EU4PM64) 

records for EU4l'M64. Machine 
Maintain a current listing (EU41'M64) 
from the mnnufacturer of and associated 
the chemical composition preparntion 
of each chemical additive 

equipment 
used by EU4PM64, 

including the weight 
percent of each 

component. 
The facility submitted VOC emission records for EU3PM07nnd EU4PM64. EU3PM07-May 201 7 VOC emissions 

were 20.45 tons per year (permit limit is 27.51 tons per year) December 2016 VOC emissions were 22.86 tons per year. 

Re1•iewetl EU4PM64- May 2016 VOC emissions were 22.4 tons per year. December 2016 VOC cmL~sions were 24.6 tons per 
y~1r. (permit limit fo r EU4PM64 is 26.9 tons per· year). The facili ty submitted monthly records or paper produced for 
December 20 16 and May 2017; Values were 20779 tons for December and 20705 tons for May (permit limit is 268,650 

tons per year) 
Compliance 

In compliance with the ROP specia l conditions for FGPAPER 
Status 

FGCOATER- Paper Machme Coaters 

Flexible Group Emission 
Limits 

Monitoring I Record keeping Reporting Other 
Requirements 
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Grou p Description (SCI. 1-7) (SC VI. 1-7) (SC V11. 1-4) (SC IX.1) 

Keep monthly t·ecot·ds of all 
coating usage amounts and VOC 

contents and the hours of operation 
VOC (EUIC36): ofEUIC36 
7.8 pph monthly perform calculations of the VOC 

average emission rate from EU IC36 
VOC (EU1C36): expressed in pounds of VOC per 
0.00037 lb/ lb of hour to determine compliance with 

coating solids the limitation specified under 
applied monthly Emission Limits above. 

average monitor and record the raw 
VOC including material usage rate and the VOC 
additives and or content of each raw material used 

cleaning for EU3C27 and EU4C65 
The Paper solvents pet·fot·m monthly calculations of 
Machine (EU3C27): 28 the 12-month rolling average total 
Coaters tpy VOC emission from EU3C27 and Prompt 

(FGCOATER) VOC (EU3C27): EU4C65 expressed in tons per year 
includes 3 0.00027 lb/ lb oc to determine compliance with the 

reporting of no visible 

emission units: coating solids limitation specified under Emission 
deviations emissions except 

Semiannual uncombined 
FGCOATER the #I Coater applied Limits above reporting of water vapor 

(Paper (EUIC36), the (monthly perform monthly calculations of 
Machine #3 Coater average) the monthly average VOC emission 

monitoring from the #I 
and deviations Coater coating 

Coaters) (EU3C27), and VOC including from EUIC36, EU3C27 and applicators or 
the #4 Coater additives and or EU4C65 expressed in pounds of Annual their associated 
(EU4C65). solvents VOC per pound of coating solids certification dryers 

These coaters (EU4C65): 31.5 applied of compliance 
arc subject to 40 tpy Keep a Material Safety Data Sheet 

CFR Part63, VOC (EU4C65): and/or a material specification 
Subpart JJJJ. 0.00021 lb/ lb of sheet for all raw materials used by 

coating solids EU3C27 and EU4C65. 
applied Mainta in records specified in 40 

HAP (EUJ C36, CFR 62.10(b)(2) for all 
EU3C27, measurements needed to 

EU4C65): No demonstrate compliance with 40 
mot·e than 20% CFR Part 63, Subpart JJJJ, 
of the mass of including monthly average coating 

coating applied material usage, volatile organic 
for each month content and coating solids content. 

(monthly The as applied volatile organ ic 
average) content and coating solids content 

shall be determined using the 
methodologies identified in 40 CFR 

63.3360 

The facility submitted records of coating usage amounts, VOC contents, hours of operation, and VOC emission rate 
for EU1C36 for December 2016 and May 2017 (attached to the hard copy of this report). December 2016 VOC 

emissions: 1773.71bs. May 2017: 1195 1bs VOCs. VOC emission rate (calculated for December 2016): 3.99 1bs/hr; 
Calculated for May 2017: 3.241bs/hr (l>ermit Limit: 7.8 pph). 

Reviewed Records of Haw material usage and Monthly VOC calculations (tons per year and average lb VOC/Ib dry coating) 
(December 2016 and May 2017) from EU3C27 and EU4C65 are attached to the hard copy of this report. EU3C27: 

Decembet'2016: VOC: 0.575 tons/year 0.000121bs VOC/ Lb Coating (limit: 0.00018) May 2017: VOC: 0.410 
ton/year 0.000151b VOC/Lb Coating EU4C65: December 2016: 0.584 ton/year VOC 0.000073 lbs VOC/Ib Coating 

(limit: 0.00015) May 2017: 0.193 ton/year VOC 0.000025 lb VOC/Ib. Coating 

Compliance In Compliance with ROP special conditions for FGCOATER 
Status 

FGSTARCH- Starch Handling and Make down equ1pment: 

Process/ 

Flexible Group Pollution 
Emission Operational Monitoring/ Reporting Other 

Limits Restrictions Recordkeeping (SC V11.1- Requirements 
Group Description Control (SC 1.1 .) (SCVI . 1) 3) (SC IX. 1) 

(SC 111.1) 

#1 Coatcr 
Equipment Dry Starch 
for handling System: 

and Individual 
mal(edown baghouse 

of starch for dust 
paper collectors 

machines serving #I, 
and coaters: #2 Starch 
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#1 Coatcr Silos, 
Dry Starch common 

System baghousc 
eguiiJmcnt sen•ing# l , 
{EUSS43}: #2 Starch 

#1,#2 Day Bins, 
Starch Silo, and 

#1,#2 common 
Starch Day baghousc 

Bi.ns, and # I, serving #l, 
#2 Starch #2 Starch air· cleaning 
Wet Out Wet Out 
Tanks. !!1 Tanks. #3 

de,•iccs shall be 
maintained 

Pa11cr Paper and operated 
Machine Machine: 

Dn• Starch baghousc 
in a 

satisfactory 
Svstcrn dust manner· nnd in 

egu iiJmcnt: collectors accordance 
# I Starch sen•e # I Visually inspect Prompt with the 

Silo Starch Silo and record 
(EUISS08) and #1 

not operate 
observations of 

reporting of Michigan Air 
the starch deviations, Pollution 

# I Starch Starch handling emissions from Semiannual Control Rules 
FGSTARCH- Makcdown Makcdown the baghouse 

Starch Tan I< Tank. #3 
PMO.JO equipment vents during 

reporting of and existing 

Handling (EU JM08). Coatcr 
lb/1000 unless the sta rch transfer 

monitoring law. The 

and Make- The#3 Dry Starch 
lbs. baghouse 

when the 
and permittee shall 

down Coater Drv System: exhaust dust deviations, carry out an 
collectors arc 

process occurs Annual Inspect ion and 
Starch baghousc operating 

du ring daylight 
certificat ion Maintenance 

Svstcm: #2 dust properly 
hours. 

of Program, 
Starch S ilo collectors conducted on a 
(EU2SS08), servc#2 weekly basis 

compliance including 

#3 Starch Starch 
keeping of 

Si.lo Silo,#J 
records of 

(EUJSS08), Starch 
inspections 

and #2 Silo,#2 
done, problems 

Star·ch Starch 
found , repairs 

Makcdown Make 
done, nnd/or 

Tan I< down 
corrective 

(EU2~•108). Tank. #4 
action taken. 

#4 Coater Coater 
System System: 
includes lndh•idual 
Starch baghouse 
Storage dust 

(EUSS66) collectors 
consis ting of scr·ve the 

#1,112 Il l , 112 
Starch Silos. Starch 

Silos. 

Reviewetl Records of weekly inspections and observations of emissions from the haghouse vents during starch transfer for 
December· 2016 and May 2017 are a ttached to the hard fil e of this report. 

Compliance In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGSTARCH 
Status 

FGBBKRAFT-Kraft Mill S ub pa rt BB Sys te ms 

Emission 
Process / 

Flex ible Group Description Pollution Control Limits 
Opera tional Reporting 

Group Res trictions (SC Vll. 1-3) 
(SC 1.1.) (SC 111.1) 

Kra ft Pulp Mill Subpart BB 
Systems (FG BBKRAFT) include 

the following: The Digester 
System (EUBB22) consists of 

batch digesters, blow tanks, and n 
blow heat condensing sys tem. The 

Brownstock System (EUBB23) 
processes hrown pulp from the Gases from the 

digester blow tanks and includes EUBB22 Digester Do not operate the 
the knottcrs, brownstock washers, System, the EUBBJJ EUBB22, EUBBJJ, or 

and nssociated vacuum pumps Steam Stripping EUBOOS Systems 
and filtrate tanks. T he System, and the unless the gases a re 

Brownstock System is used for EUBJ305 Evaporator properly collected 
final trcntment of Kra ft pulping System arc routed to and oxidized in a 
process condensates regulated the EULVHC closed properly ins talled and 
under the Standards for Kraft vent gas collect ion operated control 

Pulping Process Condensates 40 system a nd Tota l system consisting of Prompt 
CFR 63.446 (see EUCOND - destroyed in the Reduced either the Thermal reporting of 
Condensate Collection and Thermal Oxidizer Sulfur- 5 Oxid izer (EUOC33) deviations, 

FGBBKRAFT- T reatment System). The Steam (EUOC33) or the ppm by followed by the Semiannual 
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MACES- Activity Repmt Page 13 of21 

Stripping System (EUBB33) 
consists of a steam stripper 

column a nd reflux condenser used 
to strip total reduced sulfur (TRS) Lime Kiln pacl<ed scr ubber or 

compounds from condensate (EULKlS) as a the Lime Kiln 
streams from various processes in baclwp. Gases from (EULK15) ItS a 

the Kraft pulp mill. The Steam the EUBB23 bacl<up incineration 
Stripping System is also used to Brownstock System 

volume (dry device. EUBB23 
pre-treat ltraft pulping process and the EUBB22 

basis), Brownstocl< System reporting of 

Kraft Mill 
condensates regulated uuder the Digester System 

corrected to gases and EUDB22 monitoring 

Subpart BB Standards for Kraft Pulping digester domes and 
10% oxygen Digester System gases and deviations, 

Systems Process Condensates 40 CFR capping valves arc 
based upon from the digester Annual 

63.446 (see EUCOND- routed to the 
a 12-hour domes and capping certification of 

Condensate Collection and EURVLC closed valves must be compliance 
Treatment System). The vent gas collection average 

proper·ly collected 
Evaporator System (EUDDOS) system ami and combusted in the 

consists of a multiple-effect destroyed in #10 Recovery 
eva1Jorator and associated Chemical Recovery 

Furnace (EURFlS). condensers and hot well used to Furnace (EURF15). 
concentrate the spent cooking 

liquid that is separated from the 
pulp (black liquor). 

Compliance In Compliance with the ROP Special conditions for FGBBKRAFT 
Status 

FGLVHC-LVHC-LVHC and FGHVLC- HVLC System: 

Group Description FGL VHC: The LVHC System (FGLVHC) consists of a collection of equipment regulated by 40 CFR Part 63, SubpartS including 
the digesters, turpentine recovery, evaporator, steam stripping system, and associated equipment which vent to the LVHC gas collection system. Emission 
Units include: Evaporator NSPS Devices (EUDBOS), Digester Other Devices (EUOT22), Digester NSPS Devices (EUBB22), and Miscellaneous Tu rpentine 
Handling Devices (EUMT22), Steam Stripping NSPS Devices (EUBB33) and Miscellaneous Condensate Stripping System Devices (EUMC33). 

Pollution Control Equipment FGL VHC: LVIIC gases from FGL VHC are collected in a closed vent collection system and incinerated in the Thermal 
Oxidizer (EUOC33) or the Lime Kiln (EULKIS) as a baclmp incineration device. 

Group Description FGHVLC: The llVLC System (FGHVLC) consists of a collection of equipment regulated by 40 CFR Part 63, Subp:1rt S including 
the following: lrnotters, brownstoek washers, brownstoclt filtrate !auks, digester fugitive gases, and blaclt liquor sto r·age and processing tanl<s. Emission 
Units include: EUDB22 digester· capping valves, Brownstoclt NSPS Devices (EUDD23) and Miscella neous Evaporator System Devices (EUMEOS). 

Pollution Control Equipment FGHVLC: HVLC gases from FGHVLC arc collected in a closed vent system and destroyed in the Chemical Recovery 
Furnace (EURF15). 

Emission Limits (SCI. 1): Total HAP measured as methanol (limited by process/olm·ational restrictions 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1-4): Total HAP emissions from FGLVHC must be enclosed and vented into a closed vent system, then 
routed to a control device. Must meet the applicable requ irements specified in "Standards for Enclosures and Closed Vent Systems". Maintain records for· 
all periods of excess emissions (Periods of excess emissions from FGLVIIC are not violations of63.443(c) and (d) provided that the time of excess emissions 
divided by the total process operating time iu a semiannual reporting period docs not exceed one (1) percent for control devices used to reduce the total 
HAP emissions from FGLVHC. 

The control device must meet one of the fo llowing requirements: 

Reduces total HAP emissions by 98% or· more by weight 
Reduces the total HAP concentration Ill the outlet of tire thermal oxidizer to 20 parts per million or less by volume, corTccted to 10% oxygen 
(dry basis). 
Reduces total HAP emissions using a thermal oxidizer· designed and operated at a minimum temperature of 1600°F and a minimum residence 
time of0.75 seconds 
Reduces total HAP using a boiler, lime kiln, or recovery fumace by introducing the HAP emission stream with the primary fuel or into the 
flame zone. 

Monitoring/Record Keeping (SC VI. 1-2): Inspect closed vent system and enclosures as required by 40 CFR 63.450 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-4): The following reports are required for FGLVHC: 

Prompt Reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting of monitoring/deviations 
Annual Certification of compliance 

Other Requirements (SC IX. 1): Comply with applicable requirements of 40 CFR Part 63 Subpart A and SubpartS. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGL VHC: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGL VHC 

The facility submitted a semiannual report verifying compliance with Subpart S on .July 27,2017. 
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FGB25- Bleaching System 

Unit Description: The Bleaching System (FGB25) has four emission units: Bleaching Stage Equipment (EUS25) which includes the bleaching stage 
equipment wher·e chlorine dioxide is applied and removed. the Chlorine Dioxide Plant (EUB25), Extraction Devices (EUED25), nnd Methanol Storage 
(EUM25). The Blenching System is used to whiten Drownstock pulp for papcrmnldng. Bleaching is accomplished using chemicals, blenching towers, 
extr-action lowers, and washer·s. Chlorine dioxide is used for bleaching, nod is manufactured on site. 

Pollution Control Equipment: Gases from the pulp bleaching stages arc routed in a closed vent collection system to the Bleach Plant Scrubber System 
which consists of two packed scrubbers in series. Off-gases from the ch lorine diox ide generator and storage tanks are scrubbed with chilled water in a tail 
gas scrubber prior to being scrubbed in the Dleacb Plant Scrubber system. 

Emission Limits (SC I. 1-3): Chlorine: 789 mglm3 (corrected to 70 F and 29.92-inch Hg Chlorine Diox ide: 79 mg/m3 (Std. temp prcssur·e) Chlorinated 
HAl's: Treatment device outlet concentration of 10 ppmv or less of total chlorinnted HAP. 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1-6): Scrubbers must be opernted properly during process opcrnlion. Do not operate unless the rlrilled water 
tnil gas scrubber· is operating properly. Direct nil exhaust gases from the chilled water tail gas scrubber to the combine scrubbers. Bleaching stage 
equipment must be enclosed a nd vented to a closed vent system nnd routed to a cont rol device. 

Testing/Sampling (SC V. 1-3): Initial emissions tes ts for chlorinated HAPs. Repeat performance tests for chlorinated IIAPs shall be conducted at fiye 
year intervals (60 months). 

Monitoring/ Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-5): Continuously monitor a nd record oxidation/ reduction potential or pll of the scrubber, scrubber flow rate, 
and \'ent gas flow rate. Record metha nol storage tank dimensions and capacity. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-7): The following reports are required for FGB25: 
Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiaunual reporting 
Annua l certification 

Other Requirements: (SC IX. 1-4): Maintain and operate air cleaning deYice.s properly. Comply with I be applicable requi rements of 40 CFR Part 63, 
Subpart A and Subpart S. Comply with applicable requirements of 40 CFR 63.445 Standards for the Bleaching Stage Equipment (EUS25) always. No 
Yisihle emissions except uncombined water v:1por from the Bleaching Stage Equipment (EUS25) or the Chlor ine Dioxide Plant (EUD25). 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGB25: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGB25 

T he facility submitted records for the following (Record dates December 15,2016 and May IS, 2016): 

Oxidationllleduction potential Scrubber I and 2 (ORP) (copy in hard file) : December 15, 2016: Scrubber I: - 360 MY Scrnbber 2 - -465 MY 
May 15, 2017: Scrubber I: 350 MV Scrubber 2: - -400 MV 

Scrubber Liquid effluent rates Scrubber I and 2 (copy in hard fil e): December 15, 2016: Scrubber 1: - 326 gpm Scrubber 2: - 375 gpm May 15, 
2017: Scrubber I: - 327 gpm Scrubber 2: - 380 gpm 
Vent Gas flow rate: Verso uses fa n s tatus to monitor \'cut gas flow rate. The fan was continuously running. 
Methanol s torage lanl< dimension and capacity records. Records attached to the hard file of this report. 

FGLK29-Lime Kiln System: 

Group Description : The Lime Kiln System (FGLK29) includes the Lime Kiln (EULK29) a nd two Lime Storage Dins (EULKI29), one for hot lime 
s torage, one for purchased lime s torage. The Lime Kiln System processes lime mud from the Recausticizing System to regenerate calcium oxide. 
Evaporator condensate is used for lime mud washing. Filtrate from lime mud washing, known ns weak wash, is used in the Bleaching System and the 
Chemical Recovery Furnace System as an air scrubbing medium. Lime mud is mixed, washed, and fed to the Lime Kiln where it is converted to calcium 
oxide. Calcium oxide is conyeyed by bucket elevator to the lime s torage bin. From the s torage bins, calcium oxide is utilized in the Hecauslicizing Process. 
The Lime Kiln is fired with natural gas and/or fuel oil. T he Lime Kiln acts as a backup incineration device for the Thermal Oxidizer System. 

Pollution Control: Venturi scrubber and mist eliminntor on EULK29. A common bnghouse dus t collector ser-ves EULKI29. 

Emission Limits (SC /. 1-5): HAP metals (Measured as I'M): 0.064 gr/dsef (correcled to 10%): PM: 0.02 lb/ 1000 lbs. exhaust gases PM: 0.10 lbllOOO lbs. 
exhaust gas; S02: 9 pph; TRS: 20 ppmv (corrected to 10% oxygen) 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1.): Must operate venture scrubber und mist eliminator during process operation. 

Testing/Sampling Requirements: Conduct a PM performa nce test (40 CFR Subpart MM) 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-14): Record the totalr·educed sulfur concentration fro m EULK29 exhaust gases on a continuous basis. Meusurc 
the pressure drop and liquid flow rate across the scrubber on a continuous basis. Implement corrective action, as specified in the SSM plun. Continuously 
measure pressure drop und record fo r n daily nl'crage as a n indicator· of proper operation of the EULKI29 bughouse. Record a nd rcpor·t excursions and 
exceedances (as required my CAM Part 64). 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-9): The following reports are required for FGLK29: 

Prompt report ing of deviations 
Seminnnual reporting 
An nual cer-tification of compliance 
Quarter-ly excess emission reports 
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Other Requirements (SV IX. 1-5): Develop and implement a Startup, Shutdown, and Malfunction Plan as specified in 40 CFR Part 63, Subpart MM. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGLK29: In Compliance with the ROP sp ecial conditions for FGLK29 

The facility submitted records for the following (Recot·d dates December JS, 2016 and May 1S, 2016) (attached to the hard copy of this report): 

Total Reduced Sulfur (TRS) concentration from EULJ(29: December IS, 2016: - 2.S-4.S ppm May 1S, 2017: - 1.3-1.6 ppm 
Pressure drop across the scrubber: December I S, 2016: - 13 in H20 May IS, 2017: - 13.S in H20 

FGT033-T hcrmal Oxidizer System 

Emission Process/ Testing/ Monitoring/ 
Flexible Group Pollution 

Limits 
Operational Sampling Record Reporting 

Group Description Control (SCI. 1-7) Restrictions (SC V. 1-3) 
Keeping (SC (SC VII. 1-9) 

(SC lll. 1-3) VI. 1-11) 

Prompt 
reporting of 

Two emission Exhaust PM: 0.10 Initial 
devia tions 

units: from TO is lb/1000 lbs emissions measure: Semian nual 
T hermal 

routed exhaust gas 
Minim um tests for scrubber •·eporting of 

Oxidizer operating TO liquid feed monitoring 
(EUOC33) (a through a S02: 55 operating total HAPs rate, pH and 

dedicated 
packed ppm; 12.0 temp: 1200 F Repeat scrubbing d evia tions 

FGT033-
incineration 

scrubber pph (12 hr 
HAPs must 

performance liq uid, Annual 
Thermal which averaging test for total 
Oxidizer device for utilizes a time) vent to a HAPs five-

pressure certification 

System 
gases from 

soda ash TRS: 0.58 
control device drop of 

the Only bur n 
year scntbber, TO compliance 

FGLVHC scrubbing lbsnt (12 hr 
natural gas a 

intervals tem perature CAM solution to ave) (60 months System and control VE: no supplemental from date of continuous r cpm·ts 
the Soda Ash 802 visible 

fuel previous CAM include: 
Storage Tan I< t·ccords monitor 

(EUSA33). emissions emissions test) d owntime, 
exceedances, 
excursions 

The facility submitted temperature t·ecords for th e TO and pressure drop, pH, and liquid flow rate records for 

Review the scntbbcr (December 2016 and May 2017) Rccot·dcd TO temperatures were ai'Ound 1400 F fo r both months 
(minimum temp required: 1200 F) Decem ber IS, 2016: Differential pressure: - 1.5 in H20, Scrubbct· flow: 

- 900 gpm, pH: 6.8 May 15, 2017: Differential pt·cssure: 1.5 in H20, Scrubber flow: ~90 gpm, pH: 6.8 

Status ln Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGT033 

FGB25- Bleaching System 

Other (SC 
IX. 1-4) 

Air cleaning 
devices 

operated 
properly 
Comply 

with 
applicable 

requ irements 
of40 CFR 

Part 64 

Unit Description: The Dleaching System (FGB2S) has four emission units: Bleaching Stage Equipment (EUS2S) which includes the bleaching stage 
equipment where chlorine dioxide is applied and removed. the Chlorine Dioxide Plant (EUB2S), Extraction Devices (EUED2S), nod Methanol Storage 
(EUM2S). T he Bleaching System is used to whiten Brownstock pulp foo· papermaldng. Bleaching is accomplished using chemicals, bleaching towers, 
extraction towers, and washers. Chlorine dioxide is used for bleaching, nnd is manufactured on site. 

Pollution Control Equipment: Gases from the pulp bleaching stages nrc routed in a closed vent collection system to the Bleach Plant Scrubber System 
which consists of two pacl<ed scrubbers in series. Off-gases from the chlorine dioxide generator and storage tanks a rc scrubbed with chilled water in a tail 
gas scrubbeo· prioo· to being scrubbed in the Bleach l'lant Scrubber system. 

Emission Limits (SC I. 1-3): Chlorine: 789 mg/m3 (corrected to 70 F and 29.92-inch Hg Chlorine Dioxide: 79 mg/m3 (Std. temp pressure) Chlorinated 
HAPs: Treatment device outlet concentration of 10 ppmv or less of total chlorinated HAP. 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1-6): Scrubbeo·s must be operated properly du ring process operation. Do not operate unless the chilled water 
tail gas sco·ubber is operating properly. Direct all exhaust gases from the chilled water tail gas scrubber to the combine scrubbers. Dleaching stage 
equipment must be enclosed and vented to a closed vent system and routed to a control device. 

Testing/Sampling (SC V. 1-3): Initial emissions tests for chlorinated HAPs. Repeat performance tests for chlorina ted HAl's shall be conducted at five 
yeao· inten•als (60 months). 

Monitoring/ Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-5): Continuously monitor and record oxidation/o·eduction potential or pH of tbc scrubber, scrubber now rate, 
and vent gas now rate. Uccord methanol storage tank dimensions and capacity. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-7): The following reports are required for FGB25: 
Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting 
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Annunl ccrlilicalion 

Other Requirements: (SC IX. 1-4): Main lain and operate air cleaning devices proper·ly. Comply with I he npplicable requirements of 40 CFR I'nrt63, 
Subpa rt A a nd Subpart S. Comply with applicnble requirements of 40 CFR 63.44S Standards for the Bleaching Singe Equipment (EUS25) nlwnys. No 
visible emissions except uncombined water vapor from I he Blenching Stage Equipment (EUS2S) or I he Chlorine Dioxide Plant (EUU2S). 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGB25: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGB25 

The facility submilled records for the following (Record dales December IS, 201 6 and May IS, 2016): 

Oxidation/Reduction potential Scrubber I and 2 (ORP) (copy in ha rd file): December IS, 2016: Scrubber I : - 360 MV Scr·ubber 2 --465 MV 
May IS, 2017: Scrubber I: 350 MV Sc rubber 2: --400 MV 
Scrubber Liquid effluent rates Scrubber I nnd 2 (copy in hard file) : December I S, 20I6: Scr-ubber I: - 326 gpm Scrubber 2: - 375 g11lll May 15, 
201 7: Scrubber 1: - 327 gpm Scrubber 2: - 380 gpm 
Vent Gas flow rn lc: Verso uses fan sia l us to monitor vent gas flow ra te. The fan was continuously runn ing. 
Methanol storage tank dimension and Cllpncity records. Records allached lo I he hard file of I his report. 

FGLK29-Lime Kiln Sys tem: 

Group Description: The Lime Kiln System (FGLK29) includes the Lime Kiln (EU LK29) and two Lime Slornge Bins (EULKI29), one for bot lime 
slornge, one for purchased lime storage. The Lime Kiln System processes lime mud from I he Recausticizing System lo regenera te calcium oxide. 
E\•aporator condensate is used for lime mud washing. Filtrate from lime mud washing, known as weak wash, is used in I he Bleaching System nod I he 
Chemical Recover-y Furnncc System as an air scrubbing medium. Lime mud is mixed, wnshed, and fed lo I he Lime Kiln where il is converted lo calcium 
ox ide. Calcium oxide is conveyed by bucket elevator to the lime storage bin. From the s torage bins, calcium oxide is utilized in I he Rccuuslicizing Process. 
The Lime Kiln is fired with natural gas and/or· fuel oil. The Lime Kiln acts as a backup incineration device fori he Thermal Oxidizer System. 

Pollution Control: Venturi scr ubber a nd mist eliminator on EULK29. A common baghouse dust collector sen •es EULK129. 

Emission Limits (SCI. 1-5): HAP metals (Measured as PM): 0.064 gr/dscf (correcled lo 10%): PM: 0.02 lb/1000 lbs. exhaust gases PM: 0. 10 lb/ 1000 lbs. 
exha ust gas; S02: 9 pph; T RS: 20 ppmv (corrected to 10% oxygen) 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1.): Must operate venture scrubber nnd mist eliminator during process operation. 

Testing/Sampling Requirements: Conduct a PM perfonnance lest (40 CFn Subpart MM) 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-14): Record the tota l reduced sulfur concentra tion fmm EULK29 cxhnusl gases on a continuous basis. Measure 
I he pressure drop and liquid flow rate across I he scrubber on a continuous basis. Implement corrective action, ns specified in I he SSM plan. Continuously 
measure pressure drop and record for n daily average as an indicator of proper operation of I he EULK129 bughouse. Record a nd report excursions a nd 
exceeda nces (as required my CAM Part 64). 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-9): The following reports are required for FGLK29: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting 
Annual cerlilicalion of compliance 
Quarterly excess emission reports 
CAM reports: Monitor downtime, excursions, excecda nccs 
Test Protocol and Test reports 

Other Requirements (SV IX. 1-5): Develop a nd implement a Startup, Shutdown, und Ma lfunction Plan as specifi ed in 40 CFn Pari 63, Subpo rt MM. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGLK29: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGLK29 

The facility submitted records for lbe fol lowing (Record dales December 15,201 6 and May I S, 20I6) (allached lo I he hard copy oftlris report): 

Total Reduced Sulfur (TRS) concentration from EULK29: December I 5, 2016: - 2.5-4.5 ppm May IS, 20I7: - 1.3-1.6 ppm 
Pressure drop across the scrubber: December 15,2016:-13 in H20 l\lay 15,201 7: - 13.5 in H20 

FGSIRICE- Sl RICE Units: 

Process/ Design/ 
Monitoring/Record Reporting Other 

Flexible 
G roup Description 

Opcrntional Equipment 
Keeping (SC VI. 1- (SC VII. 1- Requirements 

G roup ll.cstrictions P:tramclers 
2) 3) (SC LX. l -4) 

(SC Ill. l) (SC rv. I) 

T he Spark 
Ignition 

Emergency Emergency: 
E ngine Group unlimited 
(FGSTRICE) hours 

consists of2 spark Non- C hange 
ignition engines, emergency: engine oil 

http://intranet.deq.state.mi.us/maces/WebPagesNiewActivityReport.aspx?ActivityiD=2464... 1/8/2018 



MACES- Activity Report Page 17 of21 

The Lime Kiln 
Emergency Drive SO Hours 

Motor Maintenance fil tcrs every 
(EULKSIRICE) Chccl<s and 500 hours 

and the EOC Readiness inspect spark 
Back-up testing: 100 Keep records of 

Prompt plugs every 
Generator hours Install the hours of 

repm-ting of 1000 hours or 

FGSIRICE-
(IWEOCSJRICE). Emergency Non- operation and 

deviations, annually 

SIRlCE 
The engines are Demand rescUable what the hours Semiannual whichever 

Units 
used to provide Response: hour meter operated were fm· 

repor·ting, sooner, 
mechanical work 100 hours on each annual inspect and 

or power a Periods of engine (i.e. emergency, compliance replace belts 
genua tor in voltage or 

non-emergency) certification and hoses 
emergency frequency every 500 

situations. Both deviation >5 hour or 
engines are 4 %of annually. 

stroke lean bum standat"d 
<250 HP. 

Review 
Verso submitted operation records for 2016 and 2017. There were no emergency operations reported. 

Readiness testing was done 6 times in 2016 and 3 times in 2017 for less than a total of2 hours each year. 

Compliance In compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGS1RICE. 
Status 

FGCIRICE- CIRICE units 

Process/ Design/ Monitoring/Record Other 
Flexible Operational Equipment Reporting 
Group Group Description Restrictions Parameters Keeping (SC VI. 1- (SC VII. 1-3) 

Requit·ements 

(SC Ill. 1) (SC IV. 1) 
2) (SC IX. 1-4) 

The Compression 
Ignition 

Emergency Engine 
Group 

(FGCIRICE) 
consists of 4 
compression 

ignition engines: 
the E1 Emergency Emergency: 

Lift Pump unlimited 
(EUE1CIRICE), hours 

the Water Non-
Treatment emergency: Change engine 

Building 50 Hours oil Iii tcrs every 
Emergency Fir·e Maintenance Prompt 500 hours 

Water Pump Checks and inspect spar I< 
(EUFW1CIRJCE}, Readiness Install Non- Keep records of the r·cporting of plugs every 

FG-CIRICE the Administrative testing: 100 resettablc 
hom·s of oper·ation deviations, 1000 hours or· 
and what the hours Semiannual 

CI RICE Building hours hour meter operated were for r·cporting, annually 
units Emergency Fire Emergency on each whichever· 

Water Pump Demand engine 
(i.e. emergency, annual sooner, inspect 

(EUFW2CIRICE), Response: 
non-emergency) compliance and replace 

and the Turbine 100 hours 
certifica tion belts and hoses 

Turning Gear Periods of every 500 hour 
Back-up Generator voltage or or annually. 
(EUTTGCIRICE). frequency 

The engines arc deviation >5 
used to provide %of 

mechanical work standard 
and to power 

pumps (e.g., fire 
water puml>).in 

emergency 
situations. All 
engines are 4 

stroke lean burn 
<250 HP 

Review 
Verso submitted oper·atiou recm·ds for 2016 and 2017. All engine opcr·ations wer·e fm· maintenance, readiness 
checl<s, or emergencies. One engine was run fm· 6 hours as emergency use on Febr uary 18,2016. Operation 

records arc attached to the hard file of this r·eport 

Compliance 
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Sta tus In compliance with the ROP specia l conditions for FGCIRICE 

FGEVAPORATORMOD- Evaporator System 

Group Description: The E\'aporator System consists of equipment used to concentrate weak black liquor· ns a part oft he chemical reco\'cry process for 
Kraft pulping liquor. The preheat falling intermediate solids concentnrtor (JSC) portion of the evaporator system was replaced with a Reynolds Enhanced 
Crystallizer (REX) design. Based on the actual-to-projected-actual applicability test, this is a minor modificntion for purposes of major source rc\'icw for 
both atta inment area and nonattainmcnt area regulations. 

Pollution Control: The LVIIC non-condensable gases from the E\'aporator System arc enclosed and vented into a closcd-\'cnt system and incinerated in 
the T hermal Oxidizer (EUOC33) or the Lime Kiln (EULK29) as a backup incineration dc\'ice. Tank brea thing losses arc collected and incinerated in the 
1110 Reco\'ery Furnace (EUIU' I5). 

Testing/Sampling (V.1): Within 270 days of issuance of this permit, the permittee shall verify PM, PMJO, PM2.5, NOx, and CO emission nrtcs from the 
# I 0 Rcco\'cry Furnace (EURFI 5) of the FGEVAPORA TORMOD by testing at owner·'s expense, in accordance with Department requirements. 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (V1.1-2): Calculate and keep records of PM, J>l'\'110, Pl'\12.5, S02, NOx, CO, VOC, H2S04, TRS, H2S, Pb, Total GHG and 
C02c emission rates from FGEV APORA TORMOD, in tons per ycnr on a calendar year basis. The permittee shall calculate and keep records 
throughputs in tons from FGEVAPORATORMOD on a monthly and calendar· year basis for the following: 

Aired dr·y tons of bleached pulp (ADTP BL) 
Aired dry tons of unbleached pulp (ADTP UNBL) 
Oven dried tons of unbleached pulp (ODTP UNB L) 
Calcium oxide (CaO) 
Wet chips 
Paper 
Coating 
Recovery Fu rnace black liquor solids fired (RF BLS Fired) 
Natural gas usage in MMlltu for the tbermnl oxidizer 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-5): The following reports are required for FGEVAPORATORMOD: 

l'rompt r·cporting of deviations 
Semiannunl reporting of monitoring nnd deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 
The permittee shall submit records of PM, PM 10, PM2.5, S02, NOx, CO, VOC, JUS04, TRS, H2S, Pb, Total GHG and C02e emissions from 
FGEV APORA TORMOD in tons per calendar· year to both the AQD Permit Section Snpen•isor· and the AQD District Supen•isor within 60 
days following the end of each calendar year identified in FGEVAPORATORMOD SC Vl.2 if both of the following apply: The calendar year 
actual emissions of either PM, Pl\110, PM2.5, S02, NOx, CO, VOC, H2S04, TRS, 112S, Ph, Total GHG or C02e exceed the baseline nctunl 
emissions (BAE) by a s ignificant 11mouot, a nd ... The calendar year nctu:rl emissions differ· fmm the pre-construction projection. The pre­
construction projection is the sum of the projected actual emissions from each ex is ting emission un it included in the Actual-to-Projected-Actual 
Applic:rbility Test used for FGEVAJ'ORATORMOD. The report shall contain the name, address, and telephone number of the facility; the 
a nnual emiss ions as calculated pursuant to FGEVAPORA TORMOD, SC VI.S, and any other information the owner or operator wishes to 
include (i.e., 1111 explanation why emissions differ from the pre-construction projection). 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGEVAPORATORMOD: In Compliance with the ROP sp ecial conditions for 
FGEVAPORATORMOD 

The facility submitted calendar year records for 2016. The records are attached to the hard copy of this report. Records of2015 and 2016 throughputs nrc 
attached to the hard file of tlris report. 

FGRFMOD- Secondary a ir forced-draft air handling fan motor for the #1 0 recovery furnace 

Group Description: Operation of the seconda ry air forced-drnft a ir handling fan motor (with new fan shaft, impeller, impeller housing, nnd VFD) for tire 
1110 Reco\'ery F urnace. The la rger motor design will safely handle the in-rush of current during startup. 

Pollution Control Device: Electrostatic Precipitator on #10 Rcco\'cry Fur·nace (EURFI5). 

Monitoring/Record Keeping (VI. 1-3): Calculntc and l<ecp records of CO, Total GHG, and C02e emission mtcs from FGRFMOD, in tons per year on a 
cnlcnda r year basis. Degin on the first day of the month during which the EURF15 and any of the affected e mission units commences tria l operation with 
the FGRFMOD (May 13, 2014) and shall continue for 5 years (May 13, 2019). Monitor, calculate, and record, in a satisfactory manner, the horsepower to 
the secondary air forced-draft fan on the EURF15 daily. 

Reporting (VII. 1-6): The following reports are required for FGRFMOD: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Seminnnunl reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annu:ll certification of compliance 
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S ubmit records of CO, Total GHG, and C02c emissions from FGRFMOD in tons per calendar yeat· to both the AQD Permit Section Supervisor 
and the AQD District Supen•isor within 60 days following the end of each calendar year ident ified in J<GRFMOD Conditions VJ.2, Vl.J and 
VJ.4 if both of the following apply: 

o The calendar year actual emissions of either CO, Total GUG, or C02c exceed the baseline actual emissions (BAE) by a significa nt 
amount, a nd 

o T he calendar year actual emissions diffet· from the pre-construction projection. The pre-construction projection is the sum of the 
projected actual emissions from each existing emission unit included in the Actual-to-Projected-Actual Applicability Test used for 
FGRFMOD. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGRFMOD: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGRFMOD 

The facility submitted records of CO, total GHG, and C02e emission rates for 2016. A copy of the records is attached to the hat·d file of this inspection 
report. Daily records of the horsepower to the secondary air fo rced draft fan (Recovery furnace 10) for December 15, 2016 and May 15, 2017 a rc attached 
to the hard file of this report. 

FG4PM-Number 4 paper machine system 

Group Description: Operation of EU4PM64 No. 4 Paper Machine System to revise production above year 2001 permitted limits tlu·ough tracking 
records of emissions and heat input. 

Monitoring/ Recordkeeping ( VI. 1-4): Calculate and keep records of PM, PMJ , P~ 5, S02, NOx, CO, and VOC emission rates from FG4PM project 
emissions, in tons per year on a calendar ycat· basis. Monitor and record, in a sat1slfactory man net·, tlic amount of steam delivet·ed, on an MMlltu basis, per 
calendar month to EU4PM64 of FG4PM. Calculate and l<eep records of Btu per ton of paper produced from EU4PM64 of FG4PM, on a 12-month rolling 
time basis. 

Reporting (VII. 1-6): The following reports are required for FG4PM: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiaunual reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 
S ubmit records of emissions, for FG4PM, as described in SC VT.2, to both the AQD Permit Section Supervisor and the AQD District Supervisor 
within 60 days following the end of each calendar year, if the calendar yea r actual emissions of PM, PM10, PM2.S, S02, NOX, VOC or CO 
exceed the baseline actual emissions (BAE) by a significant amount. 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FG4PM: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FG4PM 

T he facility submitted reco rds of PM, PM10, PM2.5, S02, NOx, CO, and VOC emission rates from FG4PM for calendar year 2016. The records are 
attached to the hard file of this inspection report. Records of the amount of steam delivered (MMBtu/ calendar month) and Btu pe1· ton of paper produced 
from EU4PM64 for December 2016 and May 2017 arc attached to the hard fil e of this inspection report. 

Section 2· Omya 

Process Description: Omya produces precipitated calcium carbonate (l'CC) for Verso Escana ba. The prod uction of PCC is a multistep batch process 
that involves s laking lime, reacting the lime (calcium oxide-CaO) with carbon dioxide (C02), and final processing of the product. The final product is used 
as a filler and whitening agent for paper and is added to papet· machine raw stocl< to impt·ove the optical pro1>erties of the formed sheet of paper. 

EUCARBONATORS: Three carbonators, two may be used at a time for PCC production 

Pollution Control: Gas from the lime kiln will be pre-t reated with a packed watet· spray scrubber/gas cooler which removes more particulate than added 
by the carbonation process. The exhaust from EUCARBONATORS is treated with a de-mister before reaching the PCC stack. 

Design/Equipment Parameters (SC IV. 1·2) : Do not operate EUCARBONATOHS using combustion gas from the Lime Kiln unless the wet scrubber 
treating the Lime Kilo exhaust is installed, maintained, and opemted in a satisfnctory manner. Do not opemtc EUCARBONATORS unless the demisters 
located downstream from the carbonators are installed, maintained, and operated i11 a satisfactory manner. 

Testing/Sampling (V. 1): Perform weekly non-certified visible opacity, (non-water vapot·), observations as an indicatot· of proper operations of the 
process wet scrubbe1· and demisters. 

Monitoring/Record Keeping (SC VI. 1): Keep records of all visible opacity emission readings for EUCARBONATORS. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-3): The following reports are required for EUCARBONATORS: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiaunual reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EUCARBONA TORS: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUCARBONA TORS 

I)M emission rate records for EUCARBONATORS arc attached to the hard file of this inspection t·eport. 

EULIME- Lime silos 

Unit Description: Lime silos used in the precipitated calcium carbona te process to store lime prior to use. 
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Pollution Control: Fabric Filter Baghouse 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1-2) : Do not operate EULIME uulcss the emissions arc r·outed to n bughouse. Do not route s ilo emissions to 
the baghouse for more thnn 12 hours per day. 

Tes ting/ Sampling (SC V. 1) : Perform weekly non-certified visible opacity obscn•ations as an indicator of proper operations of the baghousc. 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-3): Maintain a record of the baghousc filter vendor's certification of the grain londing factor for the bags being 
used in the bagltouse for EULIME. Record hours that EULThllE emissions are routed to the baghouse. Record all vis ible emission readings for EULIME. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-3): The following reports are required for EULIME: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannunl reporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EULIME: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EULIME 

EUCOOL TWR-draft cooling tower 

Unit Description: Mecha nical induced draft cooling tower used to reduce the temperature oflhe Lime Kiln exhaust gases and carbonators. 

Process/Operational Restrictions (SC Ill. 1): Maintain the total dissolved solids (TDS) concentration of the circulating water to below I ,656 ppm. 

Design/Equipment Parameters (SC IV. 1): Equip nnd maintain the cooling tower in EUCOOLTWR-2 with drift eliminators with a vendor-certified 
maximum drift rate ofO.OI percent or less. 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-3): Maintain a record of the vendor's cooling tower design basis for the life of the cooling tower, EUCOOL TWR. 
Monitor the following for I he cooling tower in EUCOOLTWR, using a method acceptable to the AQD District Supervisor: On a weekly basis, parameters 
needed to determine the total dissolved solids concent ration of the circulating water. Monthly, parameters needed to determine the cooling loop now rate. 
Calculate the PM and PM- 10 em ission rates from the cooling tower in EUCOOLTWR monthly, for the preceding 12-month rolling time. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-3): The following reports are required for EUCOOL TWR: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannual reporting of monitoring and de••intions 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EUCOOL TWR: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for EUCOOL TWR 

PM emiss ion rate records for EUCOOLTWR nrc attnchcd to the hard file of this inspection report. 

EUROAD- Fugitive emissions 

Unit Description: Fugitive emissions increase at the facility roads d ue to PCC Plant. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-3): The following reports are required for EUROAD: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Semiannunl reporting of monitoring nnd deviations 
Annual certifi cation of compliance 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for EUROAD: In Compliance wi th the ROP special conditions for EUROAD 

PM emission rate records for EUROAD are allached to the hard file of this inspection report. 

FGPCCPLANT 

Group Description : All process equipment utilized lo produce precipitated calcium carbonate. Emission Units: EUCARBONATORS, EULIME, 
EUCOOLTWR, EUROAD 

Emission Limits (SC I. 1·2): PMIO: 6.46 tpy PM2.5: 6.4 1py 

Monitoring/Recordkeeping (SC VI. 1-3) : Main tain a record of the number and weight of trucks transporting materia l to and from I he emission units in 
FGPCCPLANT. Calculate nnd keep records of the nnnunl emissions of PM IO and f>M2.5 from EUCARBONATORS, EU LlM E, EUCOOLTWR, a nd 
EUROAD in Ions per ycnr on a calendar year basis. Cnlcu lntc and keep records of the nnnual emissions of PM 10 and PM2.5 from EULI<29 per in tons per 
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year on a calendar· year basis. 

Reporting (SC VII. 1-4): The following reports are required for FGPCCPLANT: 

Prompt reporting of deviations 
Scmiannualr·eporting of monitoring and deviations 
Annual certification of compliance 

Page 21 of21 

Submit records of PM2.5 and PMIO, emissions from EUCARBONATORS, EULIME, EUCOOLTWR, EUROAD, and EULK29 in tons per 
calendar year· 

Compliance Status/Records Reviewed for FGPCCPLANT: In Compliance with the ROP special conditions for FGPCCPLANT 

PM emission rate records for FGPCCI'LANT are attached to the hard file of this inspection report. 

At the time of my Inspection and record review Verso Escanaba and Omya Inc. were compliant with MI-ROP-A0884-2016 and all other 
applicable state and federal air quality regulations. 

NAME~ DATE Q( I 08/f 8 
' 

SUPERVISOR.__,&'T~T-'11-~-------
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